89,829

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED

SID J. WHITE

FEO 3 1997

Chief Deputy Clerk

E COURT

HON. WARREN BURK, CIRCUIT COURT JUDGE

Petitioner,

v.

SUPREME COURT CASE NO. CASE NO. 96-1404

SHALONDA WASHINGTON,

Respondent.

ON NOTICE TO INVOKE DISCRETIONARY REVIEW
OF A DECISION OF THE 'FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

## PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

ANTHONY J. HALL
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Fla. Bar #0040924
444 Seabreeze Boulevard
5th Floor
Daytona Beach, FL 32118
(904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

#

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACT

The district court's decision recites the procedural history and facts as follows: Shalonda Washington ("defendant") was arrested on November 28, 1995, at a Wal-Mart Super Center for violating an injunction against repeat violence which prohibited her from visiting the place of employment of Amy Litchfield. The defendant's arrest was effectuated pursuant to Section 901. 15, Florida Statutes (1995), which allows a law enforcement officer to make a warrantless arrest if probable cause exists to believe a person has violated an injunction against protection.

On March 11, 1996, the State filed in the family division of the circuit court, a motion for order to show cause to be directed to defendant based on the incident at Wal-Mart on November 28, 1995. The circuit court issued the order to show cause, thereby initiating indirect criminal contempt proceedings against defendant. The defendant then filed a motion for discharge which stated that the speedy trial time period for indirect criminal contempt was triggered at the time of her initial arrest on November 28, 1995. Thereafter, the trial court denied defendant's motion for discharge based on the authority of Mauney v. State, 507 So. 2d 746 (Fla. 5th DCA 1987), which held that Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.191 does not apply to indirect criminal contempt prosecutions under

Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.840.

On May 20, 1996, the defendant sought a writ of prohibition from the Fifth District Court of Appeal, declaring that her impending trial for indirect criminal contempt of court for violating a domestic violence injunction was barred by operation of the speedy trial rule. On January 3, 1997, the Fifth District Court of Appeal issued an opinion in the instant case, granting the petition for writ of prohibition. In receding from its decision in Mauney Supra, the court held that 'all indirect contempt are subject to the Speedy Trial Rule, whether initiated by arrest or service of an order to show cause."

The State has timely filed a notice to invoke the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court on the grounds that the Fifth District Court of Appeal's decision in the instant case, expressly and directly conflicts with decisions of other district courts of appeal on the same question of law. (See Appendix)

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The decision of the district court in the instant case is in express and direct conflict with the decision of the Second District Court of Appeal in Mann v. State, 476 So. 2d 1369 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985), as well as the decision of the Forth District Court of Appeal in Drost v. Drost, 519 So. 2d 698 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988). The conflict lies in the district court's decision below in which it held that all indirect contempt are subject to the Speedy Trial Rule. Therefore, pursuant to Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv), this court has discretionary jurisdiction to review the ruling of the district court,

Moreover, the opinion below misstates the burden for overturning precedent under the rule of stare decisis. The district court below should not have receded from its opinion in <u>Maunev</u> since the defendant did not present an argument for change that was overwhelming, and not just persuasive.

#### ARGUMENT

THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL'S OPINION IN THE INSTANT CASE IS IN EXPRESS AND DIRECT CONFLICT WITH MANN V STATE, 476 SO. 2D 1369 (FLA. 2D DCA 1985); AND DROST V. DROST, 519 SO. 2D 698 (FLA. 4TH DCA 1988)

In the instant case, on March 11, 1996, the State filed in the family division of the circuit court, a motion for order to show cause to be directed to defendant based on the incident at Wal-Mart on November 28, 1995. The circuit court issued an order to show cause, thereby initiating indirect criminal contempt proceedings against the defendant. The circuit court then denied the defendant's motion for discharge which stated that the speedy trial time period for indirect criminal contempt was triggered at the time of her arrest on November 28, 1995 and expired 90 days thereafter.

The defendant then sought a writ of prohibition in the Fifth District Court of Appeal, declaring that her impending trial for indirect criminal contempt of court for violating a domestic injunction is barred by the operation of the speedy trial rule. The district court below granted the writ of prohibition and receded from its opinion in Maunev v. State, 507 So. 2d 746 (Fla. 5th DCA 1987), which held that "Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.191 does not apply to indirect criminal contempt prosecutions under

Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.840." In so ruling, the district court held that:

The State has afforded us no substantive reasons for adherence to Mauney, and we elect to recede from it. We now hold that all indirect contempts are subject to the Speedy Trial Rule, whether initiated by arrest or service of an order to show cause.

The decision of the district court in the instant case is in express and direct conflict with the decision of the Second District Court of Appeal in Mann v. State, 476 So. 2d 1369 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985), as well as the decision of the Forth District Court of Appeal in Drost v. Drost, 519 So. 2d 698 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988). In each of these cases, the district courts clearly held that the speedy trial rule does not apply to direct or indirect criminal contempt proceedings. Thus, the conflict lies in the district court's decision below in which it held that all indirect contempt proceedings are subject to the speedy trial rule. Therefore, pursuant to Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.030(a) (2) (A) (iv), this court has discretionary jurisdiction to review the ruling of the district court. This court should exercise this jurisdiction to correct an aberration in a previously well settled area of the law.

Moreover, the district court wrote in the instant opinion that

Maunev. This misstates the burden for overturning precedent. As this court pointed out in <a href="Perez v. State">Perez v. State</a>, 620 So. 2d 1256, 1258 (Fla. 1993), (Overton, J., concurring), the rule of stare decisis requires adherence to established precedent unless the party seeking to overturn it presents an argument for change that is overwhelming, not just persuasive. Here, the district court below did not adhere to the rule of stare decisis when it overturned its precedent. Therefore, the district court below should not have receded from its opinion in <a href="Mauney">Mauney</a>.

## CONCLUSION

Based on the arguments and authorities presented herein, the State respectfully requests this Honorable Court to accept jurisdiction in this case.