FILED
SIDJ. WHITE
FEB 24 1997

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CLERK, SUPREME COURT By Chief Deputy Clerk

HONORABLE WARREN BURK, Circuit Court Judge,

Case Number 89, 829

Petitioner,

v.

SHALONDA WASHINGTON,

Respondent.

ON NOTICE TO INVOKE DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF A DECISION OF THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

Blaise Trettis
Executive Assistant Public Defender
Fla. Bar No. 748099
2725 Judge Fran Jamieson Way
Building E, Second Floor
Melbourne, FL 32940
(407) 617-7373

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

Summary of Argument
Argument
THE SUPREME COURT SHOULD NOT ACCEPT JURISDICTION BECAUSE MANN v. STATE, 476 So.2d 1369 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985) DOES NOT CONFLICT WITH THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL'S DECISION IN THE INSTANT CASE AND DROST v. DROST, 519 So.2d 698 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988) DOES NOT DISCUSS THE LEGAL PRINCIPLES THAT THE COURT APPLIED IN CONCLUDING THAT SPEEDY TRIAL DOES NOT APPLY IN CRIMINAL CONTEMPT OF COURT PROSECUTIONS
Conclusion , ,
Certificate of Service

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases:

<u>Cottrel v. Amerkan,</u> 35 So.2d 383 (Fla. 1948)
<u>Drost v. Drost</u> , 519 So.2d 698 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988) 1, 3
<u>Ford Motor Co. v. Kikis</u> , 401 So.2d 1341 (Fla. 1981) 1, 4
<u>Jenkins v. State</u> , 385 So.2d 1356 (Fla. 1980) , 6
Mann v. State, 476 So.2d 1369 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985) 1, 3
Mauney v. State, 507 So.2d 746 (Fla. 5th DCA 1985) 4
Ready v. Safeway Rock Co., 24 So.2d 808 (Fla. 1946) 5
Reaves v. State, 485 So.2d 829 (Fla. 1986) 6
Sarasota-Fruitville Drainage Dist. v. Certain Lands, 80 So.2d
335 (Fla. 1955) . ,
<u>State v. DuBose</u> , 128 So.4 (Fla. 1930) , 5
<u>State v. Speights</u> , 417 So.2d 1168 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982) 6
Washington v. Burk, 22 Fla. L. Weekly D 120 (Fla. 5th DCA,
January 3, 1997)
Other Authorities:
Black's Law Dictionary, 6th Edition ,
Florida Constitution, Article V, Section 3 (b)(3) 1, 4, 6
2 P. Padovano, Florida Appellate Practice 6

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The decision of the district court of appeal in the instant case does not conflict with Mann v. State, 476 so.2d 1369 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985). In Mann, the court concluded that the speedy trial rule does not apply to direct criminal contempt proceedings. The instant case, Washington v. Burk, 22 Fla. L. Weekly D 120 (Fla. 5th DCA, January 3, 1997), holds that speedy trial is applicable to indirect criminal contempt of court prosecutions. The court specifically noted that the decision does not address the applicability of the speedy trial rule to direct contempt proceedings.

The portion of <u>Drost v. Drost</u>, 519 **so.2d** 698 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988) that discusses speedy trial is not a "decision" within the meaning of Article V, section 3(b)(3) of the Florida Constitution. The one sentence in the opinion that discusses speedy trial is only obiter dictum. Conflict with the "dicta" of a district court of appeal decision should not serve as a basis for discretionary review in the supreme court.

The court should not accept jurisdiction because <u>Drost v. Drost</u>, supra, does not discuss the legal principles that the court applied in concluding that speedy trial does not apply in indirect criminal contempt prosecutions. In <u>Ford Motor Company v. Kikis</u>, 401 **So.2d** 1341 (Fla. 1981) the court determined that the decision before the court for review must discuss the legal principles which the court applied in reaching its decision. The logical extension of this rule

of law is that the decision that is alleged to conflict with the case before the court for review must also discuss the legal principles which the court applied in reaching its decision.

ARGUMENT

THE SUPREME COURT SHOULD NOT ACCEPT JURISDICTION BECAUSE MANN v. STATE, 476 So.2d 1369 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985) DOES NOT CONFLICT WITH THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL'S DECISION IN THE INSTANT CASE AND DROST v. DROST, 519 So.2d 698 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988) DOES NOT DISCUSS THE LEGAL PRINCIPLES THAT THE COURT APPLIED IN CONCLUDING THAT SPEEDY TRIAL DOES NOT APPLY IN INDIRECT CRIMINAL CONTEMPT OF COURT PROSECUTIONS.

The petitioner erroneously asserts that Mann v. State, 476 So.2d 1369 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985) conflicts with the decision in the instant case. In Mann, the court concluded that Florida's speedy trial rule does not apply to direct criminal contempt of court proceedings. In the instant case, Washington v. Burk, 22 L. Fla. Weekly D 120 (Fla. 5th DCA, January 3, 1997), the court held that the speedy trial rule is applicable in indirect criminal contempt of court prosecutions. In fact, in the instant case the court specifically noted that the opinion does not address the applicability of the speedy trial rule to direct criminal contempt proceedings. At footnote 3 in the majority opinion the court made the following observation. "We do not concern ourselves in this opinion with the applicability of Rule 3.191 to

direct criminal contempt proceedings. We note, however, there are persuasive reasons why the procedural requirements of this rule cannot apply to such summary proceedings. <u>See</u>, e.q., <u>Mann v. State</u>, 476 So.2d 1369 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985)."

The court should not accept conflict jurisdiction because <u>Drost</u>

<u>v. Drost</u>, 519 **So.2d** 698 (Fla. 4th Dra 1988) does not discuss the

legal principles that the court applied in concluding that speedy

trial does not apply in indirect criminal contempt prosecutions. Article V, section 3(b)(3) of the Florida Constitution confers jurisdiction upon the Supreme Court to review a decision of a district court of appeal that expressly and directly conflicts with a decision of another district court of appeal. As the court observed in Ford Motor Company v. Kikis, 401 So.2d 1341 (Fla. 1981), the decision before the court for review must discuss the legal principles which the court applied in reaching its decision. The logical extension of this rule of law is that the decision that is alleged to conflict with the case before the court applied in reaching its decision.

In <u>Drost</u>, supra, the opinion does not discuss any legal principles which the court applied in reaching the conclusion that speedy trial does not apply to indirect criminal contempt prosecutions. In <u>Drost</u> the court simply aligns itself with the Fifth District Court of Appeal's decision in <u>Mauney v. State</u>, 507 So.2d 746 (Fla. 5th DCA). The court in <u>Drost</u> purportedly "holds" that the speedy trial rule does not apply to direct or indirect criminal contempt proceedings; "Moreover, though not raised or discussed by the parties, and in order to avoid future misunderstanding in other cases, we hereby align ourselves with our sister court and hold that the speedy trial rule does not apply to direct or indirect contempt proceedings. <u>Mauney v. State</u>, 507 So.2d 746 (Fla. 5th DCA 1987)."

If the above sentence was intended to establish controlling law

it is contrary to the maxim of judicial review enunciated in State v. DuBose, 128 So.2d 4, 6 (Fla. 1930). In explaining this maxim, Justice Terrell wrote that courts "consistently decline to settle questions beyond the necessities of the immediate case. This court is committed to the 'method of a gradual approach to the general, by a systematically quarded application and extension of constitutional principles to particular cases as they arise, rather than by out of hand attempts to establish general rules to which future cases must be filled."' The "holding" in <u>Drost</u> also contravenes the rule of subject matter appellate jurisdiction that appellate courts will refrain from issuing advisory opinions, or answer an abstract legal Sarasota-Fruitville Drainage Dist. v. CertainLands, 80 question. So.2d 335 (Fla. 1955); Cottrel v. Amerkan, 35 So.2d 383 (Fla. 1948); Ready v. Safeway Rock Co., 24 So.2d 808 (Fla. 1946).

Respondent submits that, despite the court's characterization as the "holding" of the case, the sentence of the <u>Drost</u> opinion that petitioner alleges conflicts with the holding in the instant case is only obiter dictum, <u>Black's Law Dictionary</u>, <u>6th Ed.</u> defines obiter dictum as follows:

Obiter dictum. Words of an opinion entirely unnecessary for the decision of the case. Noel v. Olds, 78 U.S.App.D.C. 155, 138 F.2d 518, 586. A remark made, or opinion expressed, by a judge, in his decision upon a cause, "by the way," that is, incidentally or collaterally, and not directly upon the question before him, ok upon a point not necessarily involved in the determination of the cause, or introduced by way of illustration, or analogy or argument. such are not binding as precedent. See Dicta; Dictum.

Because the issue of the applicability of the speedy trial rule to direct and indirect contempt proceedings was not even before the court in Drost, the sentence upon which petitioner relies in asserting conflict jurisdiction can only be properly considered as obiter dictum. The supreme court has not resolved the issue of whether a conflict in the "dicta" of a district court of appeal decision can serve as a basis for discretionary review. State v.Speights, 417 So.2d 1168 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982). Respondent submits that Article V, section 3(b)(3) of the Florida Constitution confers jurisdiction on the basis of conflicting decisions. Obiter dictum is not a part of an appellate decision within the meaning of Article V, section 3(b)(3). Thus, in a literal sense, "dicta conflict" cannot exist. 2 P. Padovano, Florida Appellate Practice, section 2.10 at 26 (1988).

Petitioner argues in the jurisdictional brief that the court in the instant case did not follow the doctrine of stare decisis. It should be pointed out that only the dissenting opinion in the instant case makes this assertion. A dissent, however, is not a "decision" upon which discretionary review can be based. Reaves v. State, 485

So.2d 829 (Fla. 1986); Jenkins v. State, 385 So.2d 1356 (Fla. 1980). Furthermore, respondent submits that the district court of appeal receded from its previous holding in Mauney, supra, because an

overwhelming argument for the change was made. The majority opinion simply failed to mention that an overwhelming argument for the change had successfully been made.

Petitioner does not argue in the jurisdictional brief that the decision in the instant case conflicts with a decision of the supreme court that defines or interprets the doctrine of stare decisis.

Petitioner's discussion of stare decisis is in the nature of a complaint and nothing more.

CONCLUSION

Based on the arguments and authorities presented herein, respondent respectfully requests this honorable court to refuse to accept jurisdiction in this case.